



SPONSOR: Sen. Marshall & Sen. Hall-Long & Rep. Mitchell & Rep. Barbieri
Sens. Blevins, Bushweller, Henry, Lavelle, McBride, Pettyjohn, Simpson, Townsend; Reps. Baumbach, Blakey, Bolden, Brady, Briggs King, Carson, Dukes, Gray, Hudson, Jaques, Q. Johnson, Keeley, Kenton, Longhurst, Miro, Mulrooney, Osienski, Outten, Paradee, Peterman, Potter, Ramone, Schwartzkopf, Scott, B. Short, D. Short, Smyk, Spiegelman, Viola, Walker, D.E. Williams, Wilson

DELAWARE STATE SENATE
147th GENERAL ASSEMBLY

SENATE BILL NO. 241

AN ACT TO AMEND TITLES 10, 11, 13, 16, 21, 23, AND 29 OF THE DELAWARE CODE RELATING TO THE OFFICE OF THE CHIEF MEDICAL EXAMINER AND THE DIVISION OF FORENSIC SCIENCE.

BE IT ENACTED BY THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE:

1 Section 1. Amend Chapter 47, Title 29 of the Delaware Code by making insertions as shown by underlining and
2 deletions as shown by strike through as follows:

3 CHAPTER 47. ~~MEDICAL EXAMINERS~~ FORENSIC SCIENCE

4 § 4701 ~~Compensation of Chief Medical Examiner.~~ Division of Forensic Science established; Purpose.

5 The purpose of this chapter is to establish a Division of Forensic Science to provide leadership and coordination in
6 the exercise of forensic sciences. In furtherance of that purpose, there is created the Division of Forensic Science under the
7 supervision and control of the Director of the Division of Forensic Science. The Division of Forensic Science is established
8 and operational within the Department of Safety and Homeland Security. The Division of Forensic Science shall have all
9 the powers, duties, and functions heretofore vested in the Office of the Chief Medical Examiner, its personnel, and the
10 Forensic Science Laboratory. The Office of the Chief Medical Examiner is hereby abolished. The Chief Medical
11 Examiner shall be compensated at a rate to be determined by the Secretary of the Department of Health and Social Services.
12 The Chief Medical Examiner shall also be reimbursed for any necessary travel expenses.

13 § 4702 Rules and regulations.

14 The Department of Safety and Homeland Security ~~Health and Social Services~~ may adopt and promulgate rules and
15 regulations to carry into effect this chapter.

16 § 4703 Appointment of professional and other personnel.

17 (a) The Director of the Division of Forensic Science shall appoint, with the approval of the Secretary of the
18 Department of Safety and Homeland Security, a Chief Medical Examiner, who shall be a board certified pathologist, with
19 preference given to applicants with training and experience in the field of forensic pathology. The Chief Medical Examiner

20 shall serve at the pleasure of the Director of the Division of Forensic Science and shall be subject to removal with or
21 without cause by the Director of the Division of Forensic Science or the Secretary of the Department of Safety and
22 Homeland Security.

23 (b) The ~~Chief Medical Examiner~~ Director of the Division of Forensic Science may appoint, with the approval of
24 the Department of ~~Safety and Homeland Security Health and Social Services~~, 2 Assistant Medical Examiners who shall be
25 physicians with 2 years or more of training or experience in pathology, necessary numbers of Deputy Medical Examiners
26 who shall be practicing physicians and a Toxicologist who shall have a Ph.D. degree in toxicology or pharmacology or a
27 master's degree in toxicology or pharmacology with a minimum of 3 years of experience in analytical toxicology, at such
28 compensation as shall be determined by the Department of ~~Safety and Homeland Security Health and Social Services~~. The
29 Director of the Division of Forensic Science ~~Chief Medical Examiner~~ may also appoint, in accordance with the state merit
30 system regulations, technical, clerical and other personnel, as may be necessary for proper administration of the ~~office~~
31 Division.

32 (b c) The ~~Chief Medical Examiner~~ Director of the Division of Forensic Science may employ, with the approval of
33 the Department of ~~Safety and Homeland Security Health and Social Services~~, physicians on a contract basis for part-time
34 services, as may be required. ~~Except as otherwise provided, all~~ All professional, technical and clerical personnel appointed
35 by the ~~Chief Medical Examiner~~ in accordance with this section are directly responsible to the Director of the Division of
36 Forensic Science ~~Chief Medical Examiner~~ and are subject to removal by the Director of the Division of Forensic Science or
37 the Secretary of the Department of Safety and Homeland Security. ~~Chief Medical Examiner~~ for cause, in accordance with
38 any ~~the~~ state merit system regulations applicable to the position.

39 (d) The Director of the Division of Forensic Science or his or her designee may conduct pre-employment drug
40 testing of any contractor or prospective employee accepting a position with the Division, random drug testing of
41 employees, and testing upon reasonable suspicion that an employee is impaired by an illegal drug. The timing, procedures,
42 and specific controlled substances of any drug testing shall be conducted in accordance with policies or regulations adopted
43 by the Division. The Division is further authorized to conduct pre-employment criminal background checks of any
44 contractor or prospective employee accepting a position with the Division, and such persons are subject to criminal
45 background checks from time to time while working in or for the Division.

46 (e) The Director of the Division of Forensic Science and Chief Medical Examiner shall be subject to the same
47 Department of Safety and Homeland Security policies and procedures with respect to overtime, vacation and leave time,
48 and compensatory time as other Department of Safety and Homeland Security division directors. No employee of the
49 Division of Forensic Science shall be permitted to maintain or engage in employment, or to work as an independent

50 contractor, outside of the Division of Forensic Science without prior written approval of the Secretary. Such prior written
51 approval must be issued for each employer or contract for private outside employment.

52 § 4704 Duties of Medical Examiners.

53 (a) The Chief Medical Examiner, the Assistant Medical Examiners and the Deputy Medical Examiners shall
54 perform all the medical and other functions ~~now-formerly~~ devolving upon the coroners, deputy coroners and coroners'
55 physicians in the counties of this State and in the City of Wilmington and duties imposed upon them by this chapter.

56 (b) The Chief Medical Examiner shall comply with the orders and directions of the Department of ~~Safety and~~
57 Homeland Security ~~Health and Social Services.~~

58 § 4705 Office and equipment.

59 ~~The office of the Chief Medical Examiner~~ Division of Forensic Science shall be maintained in a suitable place or
60 places which shall be designated by the Secretary of the Department of ~~Safety and Homeland Security ~~Health and Social~~~~
61 Services. The Department of Safety and Homeland Security ~~Health and Social Services~~ shall provide or arrange for proper
62 and necessary equipment for use of the staff of the ~~Division of Forensic Science~~ Medical Examiners.

63 § 4706 Investigation of deaths.

64 (a) When any person shall die in this State, as a result of violence, by suicide or by casualty if such occurred not
65 longer than 1 year and 1 day prior to death, while under anesthesia, by abortion or suspected abortion, by poison or
66 suspicion of poison or suddenly when in apparent health or when unattended by a physician or in any prison or penal
67 institution or when in police custody or from a disease resulting from employment including disease related to injury or
68 from an undiagnosed cause which may be related to a disease constituting a threat to public health or in any suspicious or
69 unusual manner or if there is any unclaimed body or if any body is to be cremated, it shall be the duty of the person having
70 knowledge of such death or of the person issuing a permit for cremation under § 3162 of Title 16 immediately to notify the
71 Chief Medical Examiner, an Assistant Medical Examiner or a Deputy Medical Examiner, as the case may be, who in turn
72 shall notify the Attorney General of the known facts concerning the time, place, manner and circumstances of such death.
73 Any person who shall willfully neglect or refuse to report such death or who shall refuse to make available prior medical or
74 other information pertinent to the death investigation or who, without an order from the ~~office of the Chief Medical~~
75 ~~Examiner~~ Division of Forensic Science, shall willfully touch, remove or disturb the clothing or any article upon or near the
76 body shall upon conviction be subject to imprisonment for not more than 1 year or pay a fine of not more than \$1,000, or
77 both.

78 (b) Immediately upon receipt of such notification, the Medical Examiner shall take charge of the dead body if
79 either the Medical Examiner or the Attorney General shall deem it necessary. ~~The office of the Chief Medical Examiner~~

80 Division of Forensic Science shall promptly notify a relative or close acquaintance of the deceased, if known, of such
81 action.

82 (c) The Medical Examiner shall fully investigate the essential facts concerning the medical causes of death and
83 may take the names and addresses of as many witnesses as may be practicable to obtain and shall reduce such facts as the
84 Medical Examiner may deem necessary to writing and file the same in the ~~office of the Chief Medical Examiner~~ Division
85 of Forensic Science.

86 (d) The Medical Examiner or a duly authorized investigator, in the absence of the next of kin, shall take
87 possession of the personal property found on the deceased and make an exact inventory thereof on the Medical Examiner's
88 report. If necessary an attending police officer may take temporary possession of such property in behalf of the Medical
89 Examiner or an authorized investigator.

90 (e) The Medical Examiner shall take possession of any object or articles which, in the Medical Examiner's
91 opinion, may be useful in establishing the identity of the deceased person or the cause of death and deliver them to the
92 Attorney General. The balance of the personal property of the deceased remaining in the possession of the Medical
93 Examiner shall be released to the next of kin of the deceased or the personal representative of the deceased.

94 § 4707 Postmortem examination; autopsy reports.

95 (a) When the cause of death shall have been established within reasonable medical certainty by a Medical
96 Examiner, the Medical Examiner shall prepare a written report and file it in the ~~office of the Chief Medical Examiner~~
97 Division of Forensic Science within 30 days after an investigation of such death.

98 (b) If, however, in the opinion of the Medical Examiner an autopsy is necessary in the public interest or as shall
99 be requested by the Attorney General, the same shall be performed by the Chief Medical Examiner, an Assistant Medical
100 Examiner or by such other competent pathologists as may be designated by the Chief Medical Examiner. No person who
101 authorizes or performs an autopsy pursuant to this chapter shall be liable in any civil action for damages.

102 (c) A detailed report of the findings written during the progress of the autopsy, related laboratory analysis and the
103 conclusions drawn therefrom shall be filed in the ~~office of the Chief Medical Examiner~~ Division of Forensic Science.

104 (d) Promptly upon the conclusion of the postmortem examination, the body of the decedent shall be released to
105 such person as shall be designated by a member of the decedent's immediate family, preferably the next of kin or by an
106 appropriate representative of the decedent's estate.

107 (e) Upon written request the next of kin of the deceased shall receive a copy of the postmortem examination
108 report, the autopsy report and the laboratory reports, unless there shall be a criminal prosecution pending in which case no

109 such reports shall be released until the criminal prosecution shall have been finally concluded. The charge for completion of
110 an insurance form for proof of death shall be \$5.

111 § 4708 Forensic Sciences Laboratory.

112 The Forensic Sciences Laboratory is established and operational within the ~~office of the Chief Medical Examiner~~
113 Division of Forensic Science. The ~~Chief Medical Examiner~~ Director of the Division of Forensic Science functions as the
114 Director of the Forensic Sciences Laboratory.

115 § 4709 Power to administer oaths and issue subpoenas.

116 The Director of the Division of Forensic Science, the Chief Medical Examiner, the Assistant Medical Examiners
117 and the Deputy Medical Examiners, in the course of investigation of a death, may administer oaths and affirmations and
118 take affidavits and make examinations as to any matter within the jurisdiction of their respective offices, but the Chief
119 Medical Examiner, the Assistant Medical Examiners and the Deputy Medical Examiners may not summon a jury of
120 inquisition. The Chief Medical Examiner, or in the Chief Medical Examiner's absence, Assistant Medical Examiners or
121 Deputy Medical Examiners, shall have the power to issue subpoenas.

122 § 4710 Records and reports; evidence.

123 (a) The Chief Medical Examiner is to keep full and complete records ~~of in~~ the Division of Forensic Science
124 pertaining to the investigation of deaths and postmortem examinations. ~~Such records shall be Chief Medical Examiner's~~
125 ~~office~~, properly indexed, giving the name, if known, of every deceased person investigated, the place where the body was
126 found, the date and the cause of death and all other available information relating thereto. The original report of Medical
127 Examiners and the detailed findings of the autopsy and subsequent laboratory examinations, if any, shall be attached to the
128 record of each case.

129 (b) The Chief Medical Examiner shall deliver to the Attorney General copies of all records relating to every death
130 in which, in the judgment of the investigating Medical Examiner, further investigation may be deemed advisable.

131 (c) The Attorney General may obtain from the ~~office of the Chief Medical Examiner~~ Division of Forensic Science
132 copies of all records or other information which the Attorney General may deem necessary.

133 (d) The records of the ~~office of the Chief Medical Examiner~~ Division of Forensic Science prepared by the
134 Director of the Division of Forensic Science ~~Chief Medical Examiner~~ or by anyone under the Director's ~~Chief Medical~~
135 ~~Examiner's~~ direction or supervision or a true copy thereof certified by the Director or the Chief Medical Examiner shall be
136 received as competent evidence in any court in this State of the matters and facts therein contained.

137 § 4711 Disposition of unclaimed body or remains of indigent person.

138 (a) In any case where there is an unclaimed body or there are remains of indigent persons and it is incumbent on
139 the State or any political subdivision thereof to bury such person found dead, the Chief Medical Examiner or a duly
140 authorized representative shall notify the Division of Social Services of the Department of Health and Social Services to
141 arrange for the burial unless the case falls within the category described in subsection (b) of this section.

142 (b) When there is a written consent of the next of kin or other legally responsible party, the remains of an indigent
143 person may be cremated or donated for scientific research.

144 § 4712 Authority to provide corneas to eye banks.

145 (a) Upon request of an approved eye bank on behalf of a patient in need of corneal tissue for a transplant, a
146 Medical Examiner is authorized to provide the cornea under the following conditions:

147 (1) A decedent who may provide a suitable cornea for transplant is under the jurisdiction of the Medical
148 Examiner;

149 (2) An autopsy will be required;

150 (3) No objection by the decedent or next of kin is known by the Medical Examiner prior to the removal of the
151 cornea by a representative of an approved eye bank; and

152 (4) Removal of the cornea for transplant will not interfere with the subsequent course of a postmortem
153 examination or alter the postmortem facial appearance.

154 (b) For the purposes of this section, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

155 (1) "Approved eye bank," includes the Medical Eye Bank of Delaware and the Eye Foundation of
156 Delaware Valley;

157 (2) "Next of kin" means:

158 a. A spouse;

159 b. If no spouse, the decedent's adult children;

160 c. If no spouse or adult children, the decedent's parents;

161 d. If no spouse, adult children or parents, the person who is legally entitled to claim the decedent's remains for
162 final disposition.

163 (c) The Medical Examiner or an approved eye bank, while acting in compliance with this section, shall not be
164 liable to the next of kin of a decedent, whose corneal tissue is removed and donated pursuant to this section, for any civil
165 damages.

166 § 4713 DNA analysis and data bank.

167 (a) In any criminal proceeding, DNA (deoxyribonucleic acid) testing shall be deemed to be a reliable scientific
168 technique, and the evidence of a DNA profile comparison shall be admitted to prove or disprove the identity of any person.
169 This section shall not otherwise limit the introduction of any relevant evidence bearing upon any question at issue before
170 the court. The court shall, regardless of the results of the DNA analysis, if any, consider such other relevant evidence of the
171 identity of the person as shall be admissible in evidence.

172 (b) (1) Any person convicted on or after June 16, 1994, of any offense or attempted offense defined in subchapter
173 II, subpart D or subchapter V of Chapter 5, Title 11 or who is in the custody of the Department of Correction after June 16,
174 1994, as a result of a conviction on one of the above offenses shall have a biological sample taken by the Department of
175 Correction for DNA (deoxyribonucleic acid) law-enforcement identification purposes and inclusion in law-enforcement
176 identification databases. Any person convicted on or after June 16, 1994, who is not sentenced to a term of confinement
177 shall provide a biological sample as a condition of such sentence at a time and place specified by the sentencing court.

178 (2) Any person convicted after July 1, 2003, of any offense that is defined and classified as a felony under Title 11
179 shall have a biological sample taken by the Department of Correction for DNA (deoxyribonucleic acid) law-enforcement
180 identification purposes and inclusion in law-enforcement identification databases. Any person convicted after July 1, 2003,
181 of such felony offense and who is not sentenced to a term of confinement shall provide a biological sample as a condition
182 of such sentence at a time and place specified by the sentencing court.

183 (c) The biological samples shall be obtained in a medically approved manner by a physician, registered nurse,
184 licensed practical nurse, phlebotomist, medical technologist or other qualified personnel approved by the Chief Medical
185 Examiner, and packaged and submitted in containers provided or approved by the Division of Forensic Science ~~Chief~~
186 ~~Medical Examiner, Forensic Sciences Laboratory~~ in accordance with administrative regulations promulgated by the
187 Division of Forensic Science ~~Chief Medical Examiner~~. No civil liability shall attach to any person authorized to obtain a
188 biological sample as provided by this section as a result of obtaining a biological sample from any person, provided the
189 biological sample was obtained according to generally accepted medical procedures.

190 (d) Any person who tampers or attempts to tamper with any biological sample or the container collected pursuant
191 to subsection (b) or (c) without lawful authority shall be guilty of a Class D felony.

192 (e) A centralized database of DNA (deoxyribonucleic acid) identification records for convicted criminals shall be
193 established in the Division of Forensic Science ~~Office of the Chief Medical Examiner, Forensic Science Laboratory~~. The
194 established system shall be compatible with the procedures set forth in a national DNA identification index to ensure data
195 exchange on a national level.

196 (f) The purpose of the centralized DNA database is to assist federal, state and local criminal justice and law
197 enforcement agencies within and outside the State in the identification, detection or exclusion of individuals who are
198 subjects of the investigation or prosecution of sex-related crimes, violent crimes or other crimes and the identification of
199 missing and unidentified persons.

200 (g) The Division of Forensic Science ~~Chief Medical Examiner and Forensic Sciences Laboratory~~ shall receive,
201 analyze and classify biological samples in compliance with subsections (b) and (c) of this section, and shall record the DNA
202 results in a centralized database for identification and statistical purposes. Except as specifically provided in this section,
203 the results of the analysis shall be securely stored and shall remain confidential.

204 (h) Records produced from the biological samples shall be used only for law enforcement purposes and shall be
205 exempt from the provisions of the Freedom of Information Act [Chapter 100 of this title].

206 (i) A person whose DNA profile has been included in the data bank pursuant to this section may petition Superior
207 Court for expungement on the grounds that the conviction on which the authority for including the DNA profile was based
208 has been reversed or the case dismissed. The ~~Office of Chief Medical Examiner~~ Division of Forensic Science, Forensic
209 ~~Science Laboratory~~ shall expunge all identifiable information in the data bank pertaining to the person and destroy all
210 biological samples from the person upon receipt of a certified court order.

211 (j) The ~~Chief Medical Examiner~~ Division of Forensic Science ~~and Forensic Sciences Laboratory~~ shall promulgate
212 administrative regulations necessary to carry out the provisions of the DNA database identification system to include
213 procedures for the collection of biological samples and the database system usage and integrity.

214 (k) Upon completion of the analysis required by this section, the ~~Office of the Chief Medical Examiner~~ Division
215 of Forensic Science, Forensic Science Laboratory shall forward to the State Bureau of Identification the name and other
216 identifying information required by the State Bureau of Identification of each individual for whom a DNA identification
217 record is developed. Upon receipt of such information the State Bureau of Identification shall make a notation of the
218 existence of such DNA identification record in the criminal history record information file for such individual maintained
219 pursuant to Chapter 85 of Title 11. Such information shall be available to all requesting criminal justice agencies in the
220 same manner and under the same conditions as all other criminal record information maintained by the State Bureau of
221 Identification.

222 (l) Any person who disseminates, receives or otherwise uses or attempts to use information in the database,
223 knowing that such dissemination, receipt or use is for a purpose other than authorized by law, shall be guilty of a Class A
224 misdemeanor.

225 (m) For purposes of this section "biological sample" shall mean a blood sample or a buccal swab.

226 § 4714 Commission on Forensic Science

227 (a) The Commission on Forensic Science, hereinafter in this chapter referred to as the Commission, is hereby
228 established. The Commission shall provide oversight and guidance to foster professionalism within, and the development
229 and growth of, the Division of Forensic Science. The Commission shall consist of eight members. The Commissioners
230 shall be the Secretary of the Department of Health and Social Service, the Secretary of the Department of Safety and
231 Homeland Security, the Attorney General, or the Attorney General's designee, the Public Defender or the Public
232 Defender's designee, a member of the Delaware State Senate appointed by the President Pro Tempore, a member of the
233 Delaware House of Representatives appointed by the Speaker, a member appointed by the Delaware Police Chiefs Council,
234 and a member, appointed by the Governor, who has expertise in forensic science.

235 (b) For administrative and budgetary purposes, the Commission will be placed within the Department of Safety
236 and Homeland Security, Office of the Secretary.

237 (c) The Director of the Division of Forensic Science shall create an audit process to include evidence
238 accountability, requisite certifications, and security. The Director of the Division of Forensic Science shall file a report on
239 this audit to the Commission and Governor once a year.

240 (d) The Commission shall undertake the following tasks:

241 (1) Evaluate and monitor the needs of the Division to ensure that it is able to provide accurate, timely, and
242 responsive forensic sciences services to all members of the criminal justice community;

243 (2) Evaluate and monitor the needs of the Division as may help preserve the independence of judgment and the
244 integrity of all scientific undertakings by the Division and its personnel;

245 (3) Evaluate and monitor the human resources needs and the personnel and hiring practices of the Division;

246 (4) Receive and consider input from all stakeholders in the criminal justice community, including, without
247 limitation, prosecutors, defense attorneys, the courts, law enforcement, victims' advocates, the Domestic Violence
248 Coordinating Council, the Child Death, Near Death and Stillborn Commission, and other interested persons or parties;

249 (5) Evaluate and monitor the quality assurance structure and processes, including chain of custody practices for
250 drug evidence;

251 (6) Evaluate and monitor professional competency and accreditation requirements and staff management policies;

252 (7) Review and comment upon all rules and regulations promulgated pursuant to § 4702 of this title; and

253 (8) Suggest and support the implementation of improvements to the operations of the Division or its
254 communications and cooperation with other agencies of state and local government.

255 Section 2. Amend § 7903, Title 29 of the Delaware Code by making insertions as shown by underlining and
256 deletions as shown by strike through as follows:

257 § 7903 Powers, duties and functions of the Secretary.

258 The Secretary may:

259 (1) Supervise, direct and account for the administration and operation of the Department, its divisions,
260 subdivisions, offices, functions and employees;

261 (2) Appoint and fix the salary, with the written approval of the Governor, of the Deputy Secretary and the
262 following division directors and office heads, who may be removed from office by the Secretary with the written approval
263 of the Governor, and who shall have such powers, duties and functions in the administration and operation of the
264 Department as may be assigned by the Secretary:

265 a. A Director of the Division of Public Health, who shall be known as the Director of Public Health, and who shall
266 be a licensed physician who shall have had at least 1 year of postgraduate training in public health, or in lieu thereof at least
267 5 years of experience as a full-time health official;

268 b. A Director of the Division of Substance Abuse and Mental Health, who shall be known as the Director of
269 Mental Health, and who shall be qualified by appropriate formal education in a field such as psychiatric medicine,
270 psychiatric nursing, clinical psychology or psychiatric social work directly related to the care and treatment of persons with
271 mental or emotional conditions, by direct experience in the care and treatment of persons with mental or emotional
272 conditions and by demonstrated administrative competence;

273 c. A Director of the Division of Social Services, who shall be known as the Director of Social Services, and who
274 shall be qualified by education, ability and experience in the administration of social work or services;

275 d. An administrator and head of the Division of Business Administration and General Services who shall be
276 known as the Chief of Business Administration and General Services and who shall be a person qualified by training and
277 experience to perform the duties of the division;

278 e. An administrator and head of the Division of Planning, Research and Evaluation who shall be known as the
279 Chief of Planning, Research and Evaluation and who shall be a person qualified by training and experience to perform the
280 duties of the division;

281 f. A Director of the Division of Child Support Enforcement, who shall be someone qualified by training,
282 education, experience or ability to perform the duties of Director;

283 g. A Director of the Division of Services for Aging and Adults with Physical Disabilities, who shall be someone
284 qualified by training, education, experience or ability to perform the duties of Director;

285 h. A Director of the Division of State Service Centers, who shall be someone qualified by training, education,
286 experience or ability to perform the duties of Director;

287 i. A Director of the Division of Long-Term Care Residents Protection, who shall be someone qualified by
288 training, education, experience or ability to perform the duties of Director;

289 ~~3) Appoint, with the written approval of the Governor, an administrator and head of the Office of Medical~~
290 ~~Examiner who shall be known as the Medical Examiner of the State for a term of 10 years, subject to reappointment, but~~
291 ~~always subject to removal for cause. The Medical Examiner shall be a physician licensed to practice in this State and shall~~
292 ~~be a board certified pathologist, with preference given to applicants with training and experience in the field of forensic~~
293 ~~pathology;~~

294 (43) Appoint such additional personnel as may be necessary for the administration and operation of the
295 Department within such limitations as may be imposed by law;

296 (54) Establish a Division of Business Administration and General Services in order to administer and coordinate
297 the record keeping, transportation, fiscal affairs, data processing, statistics, accounting, personnel and such other general
298 services for the Department as the Secretary may deem necessary for the proper, efficient and economical operation of the
299 Department and to coordinate such general services and business administration with other departments, agencies and
300 offices of the government of this State;

301 (65) Establish a Division of Planning, Research and Evaluation in order to provide for and carry out the future
302 comprehensive planning of the programs, policies and operations of the Department and the evaluation, necessary research,
303 data collection and analysis of the programs, policies and operations of the Department;

304 (76) Establish, consolidate, abolish, transfer or combine the powers, duties and functions of the divisions,
305 subdivisions and offices within the Department as the Secretary, with the written approval of the Governor, may deem
306 necessary, providing that all powers, duties and functions required by law shall be provided for and maintained;

307 (87) Make and enter into any and all contracts, agreements or stipulations, and retain, employ and contract for the
308 services of private and public consultants, research and technical personnel and to procure by contract consulting, research,
309 technical and other services and facilities, whenever the same shall be deemed by the Secretary necessary or desirable, in
310 the performance of the functions of the Department and whenever funds shall be available for such purpose. All necessary
311 legal services shall be provided pursuant to Chapter 25 of this title;

312 (98) Delegate any of the Secretary's powers, duties or functions to a director of a division, except the Secretary's
313 power to remove employees of the Department or to fix their compensation;

314 (409) Establish and promulgate such rules and regulations governing the administration and operation of the
315 Department as may be deemed necessary by the Secretary and which are not inconsistent with the laws of this State;

316 a. The Secretary shall, in cooperation with the appropriate division directors and office heads, adopt regulations
317 which require dementia specific training each year for persons who are certified, licensed, or registered by the State, and/or
318 who are partially or fully funded by the State, to provide direct healthcare services to persons diagnosed as having
319 Alzheimer's disease or other forms of dementia. The mandatory training must include the following topics:

- 320 1. Communicating with persons diagnosed as having Alzheimer's disease or other forms of dementia;
- 321 2. The psychological, social, and physical needs of those persons; and
- 322 3. Safety measures which need to be taken with those persons.

323 The mandatory training required under this paragraph applies only to those healthcare providers who must
324 participate in continuing education programs;

325 b. The provisions of paragraph (10)a. of this section do not apply to persons certified to practice medicine under
326 the Medical Practice Act, Chapter 17 of Title 24 or first responders including police officers, firefighters and emergency
327 medical technicians.

328 (4110) Maintain such facilities throughout the State as may be required for the effective and efficient operation of
329 the Department;

330 (42 11) Adopt an official seal or seals for the Department;

331 (43 12) The Secretary in cooperation with the division directors shall prepare a proposed budget for the operation
332 of the Department to be submitted for the consideration of the Governor and the General Assembly. The Department shall
333 be operated within the limitations of the annual appropriation and any other funds appropriated by the General Assembly.
334 Special funds may be used in accordance with approved programs, grants and appropriations;

335 (44 13) The Secretary shall be the successor to the State Board of Health exercising the powers and duties granted
336 the Board by Title 16 or § 7904 of this title, which are not inconsistent with the laws of this State;

337 (45-14) The Secretary is empowered to administer a state revolving loan program in accordance with requirements
338 set forth in the Federal Safe Drinking Water Act.

339 a. Delaware Safe Drinking Water Revolving Fund. - There is hereby established a "Delaware Safe Drinking
340 Water Revolving Fund" as contemplated by and to be administered pursuant to the Federal Safe Drinking Water Act. All
341 federal capitalization grants received pursuant to the Federal Safe Drinking Water Act, all required matching state funds,
342 and all loan repayments received by the State pursuant to any loan agreement made under the Delaware Safe Drinking
343 Water Revolving Fund shall be credited to the Delaware Safe Drinking Water Revolving Fund. In addition, all proceeds of

344 obligations issued by the State and supported by a pledge or other interest in the funds in the Delaware Safe Drinking Water
345 Revolving Fund shall be held in or for such fund. The Delaware Safe Drinking Water Revolving Fund shall be deemed to
346 be a special fund and shall be approved by the Governor for the following purposes:

- 347 1. To accept and retain the funds and revenues specified herein;
- 348 2. To make loans to eligible persons for qualifying purposes under the Federal Safe Drinking Water Act;
- 349 3. To buy or refinance debt obligations of eligible persons for qualifying purposes under the Federal Safe
350 Drinking Water Act;
- 351 4. To guarantee or purchase insurance for obligations of eligible persons for qualifying purposes under the Safe
352 Drinking Water Act;
- 353 5. To be a source of revenue or security for the payment of principal and interest on revenue bonds of the State if
354 the proceeds of the sale of such bonds will be deposited in the Delaware Safe Drinking Water Revolving Fund;
- 355 6. To earn interest on amounts on deposit in such fund;
- 356 7. To establish all necessary interest bearing accounts for deposit of loan repayments;
- 357 8. To finance the reasonable costs incurred by the State in the administration of the Delaware Safe Drinking
358 Water Revolving Fund as permitted under the Federal Safe Drinking Water Act; and
- 359 9. To accomplish any other allowable purpose under the Federal Safe Drinking Water Act.

360 The Department is designated as the administering agency of the Delaware Safe Drinking Water Revolving Fund
361 and shall have such power necessary to administer such fund including, but not limited to, the power to enter into
362 capitalization grant agreements with the Environmental Protection Agency, the power to accept capitalization grant awards
363 made under the Federal Safe Drinking Water Act and the power to make loans in accordance with the requirements of the
364 Federal Safe Drinking Water Act, and Chapter 61 of this title, or any successor statute. The Department shall coordinate
365 implementation of the Delaware Safe Drinking Water Revolving Fund with the Delaware Department of Natural Resources
366 and Environmental Control which shall be responsible for financial administration of the loan portion of the Drinking
367 Water State Revolving Fund. The Department shall take all actions necessary to secure for the State the benefits of the
368 Federal Safe Drinking Water Act.

369 b. Standards and procedures. — Before making any loan from the Delaware Safe Drinking Water Revolving
370 Fund, the Department shall specify:

- 371 1. Standards for the eligibility of borrowers and the type of projects to be financed with loans;
- 372 2. Procedures for the preparation, review and approval of the "project priority" list, which must contain those
373 projects for which financial assistance is sought;

374 3. Procedures for submitting applications for financial assistance and procedures for Department approval of such
375 applications;

376 4. Procedures for completing an environmental review of projects otherwise qualifying under this paragraph
377 which shall be sufficiently consistent with the provisions for environmental review established under applicable state and
378 federal requirements;

379 5. Conditions for financial assistance; and

380 6. Other relevant criteria, standards and procedures.

381 Standards and procedures specified under this paragraph shall provide for final recommendations by the Water
382 Infrastructure Advisory Council of any loan from the Delaware Safe Drinking Water Revolving Fund and the "project
383 priority" list as required by Chapter 61 of this title, or any successor statute.

384 Section 3. Amend § 7916, Title 29 of the Delaware Code by making striking the section in its entirety as shown
385 by strike through as follows:

386 ~~§ 7916 Office of Medical Examiner.~~

387 ~~The Office of Medical Examiner is established having the power to perform and shall be responsible for the~~
388 ~~performance of all powers, duties and functions heretofore vested in the Board of Postmortem Examiners for the State of~~
389 ~~Delaware pursuant to Chapter 47 of this title.~~

390 Section 4. Amend § 7922, Title 29 of the Delaware Code by making insertions as shown by underlining and
391 deletions as shown by strike through as follows:

392 § 7922 Exemptions.

393 The following positions set forth in this section shall be exempt from Chapter 59 of this title:

394 (1) Secretary of Health and Social Services;

395 (2) Director of Public Health;

396 (3) Director of the Division of Substance Abuse and Mental Health;

397 (4) Director of Social Services;

398 (5) ~~Medical Examiner;~~

399 (6) Chief of Business Administration and General Services;

400 (6 7) Chief of Planning, Research and Evaluation;

401 (7 8) Director of Developmental Disabilities Services;

402 (8-9) Director of Child Support Enforcement;

403 (9 10) Director of the Division of Services for Aging and Adults with Physical Disabilities;

404 (10 11) Director of State Service Centers;
405 (11 12) Director of Long-Term Care Resident Protection; and
406 (12 13) Deputy Secretary of the Department of Health and Social Services.

407 Section 5. Amend § 7923, Title 29 of the Delaware Code by making insertions as shown by underlining and
408 deletions as shown by strike through as follows:

409 § 7923 Assumption of functions of prior agencies.

410 The Department, through appropriate divisions, subdivisions and offices, shall have the power to perform and shall
411 be responsible for the performance of all the powers, duties and functions vested by law in the State Board of Health, the
412 Board of Trustees of the Delaware Hospital for the Chronically Ill, the Hospital Advisory Council, the Department of
413 Mental Health, the Board of Trustees of the Department of Mental Health, the Department of Public Welfare, the Board of
414 Welfare, the Commission for the Blind, and the Commission for the Aging ~~and the Board of Postmortem Examiners of the~~
415 ~~State of Delaware~~ immediately prior to June 12, 1970, and which are not otherwise specifically transferred to the
416 Department by this chapter.

417 Section 6. Amend § 8203, Title 29 of the Delaware Code by making insertions as shown by underlining and
418 deletions as shown by strike through as follows:

419 § 8203 Powers, duties and functions of the Director.

420 The Secretary may:

421 (1) Supervise, direct and account for the administration and operation of the Department, its divisions,
422 subdivisions, offices, functions and employees;

423 (2) Appoint, and fix the salary of, with the written approval of the Governor, the following division directors who
424 may be removed from office by the Secretary with the written approval of the Governor and who shall have such powers,
425 duties and functions in the administration and operation of the Department as may be assigned by the Secretary:

426 a. A Secretary of the Division of State Police who shall be known as the Superintendent of State Police and shall
427 hold the rank of Colonel. The Superintendent of State Police shall be qualified by training and experience to perform the
428 duties of the office. The Superintendent of State Police shall be chosen from among the ranks of the State Police and shall
429 have been promoted through the normal promotional policies of the State Police;

430 b. A director of the Delaware Emergency Management Agency who shall be known as the "Director of the
431 Delaware Emergency Management Agency", and who shall be qualified by training and experience to perform the duties of
432 the office;

433 c. A Director of the Division of Alcohol and Tobacco Enforcement who shall be known as the Director of Alcohol
434 and Tobacco Enforcement, and who shall be qualified by training and experience to perform the duties of the office;

435 d. A director of the Division of Capitol Police who shall be known as the Chief of Capitol Police, which position
436 shall remain a merit position. The Chief of Capitol Police shall be qualified by training and experience to perform the duties
437 of the office. The Chief of Capitol Police shall be chosen from among the ranks of the Capitol Police and through the
438 normal promotional policies of the Capitol Police.

439 e. A director of the Division of Communications who shall be known as the "Director of the Division of
440 Communications", and who shall be qualified by training and experience to perform the duties of the office;

441 f. A director of the Office of Highway Safety who shall be known as the "Director of the Office of Highway
442 Safety", which position shall remain a merit position. The Director of the Office of Highway Safety shall be qualified by
443 training and experience to perform the duties of the office;

444 g. A director of the State Council for Persons with Disabilities, who shall be known as the "Director of the State
445 Council for Persons with Disabilities", which position shall remain a merit position, and who shall be qualified by training
446 and experience to perform the duties of the office;

447 h. A director of the Division of Gaming Enforcement who shall be known as the "Director of the Division of
448 Gaming Enforcement" and who shall be qualified by training and experience to perform the duties of the office; and

449 i. A director of the Division of Forensic Science who shall be known as the "Director of the Division of Forensic
450 Science" and who shall be qualified by training, experience, education, or ability in the areas of administration and forensic
451 science to perform the duties of Director.

452 Section 7. Amend § 8214, Title 29 of the Delaware Code by making insertions as shown by underlining and
453 deletions as shown by strike through as follows:

454 § 8214 Exemptions.

455 The following positions set forth in this chapter shall be exempt from Chapter 59 of this title:

456 (1) Secretary of Public Safety;

457 (2) Superintendent of State Police;

458 (3) Director of Civil Defense;

459 (4) Director of Alcohol and Tobacco Enforcement;

460 (5) Director of the Division of Forensic Science; and

461 (6) Chief Medical Examiner.

462 Section 8. Amend Chapter 82, Title 29 of the Delaware Code by making insertions as shown by underlining and
463 deletions as shown by strike through as follows:

464 § 8238 Division of Forensic Science

465 The Division of Forensic Science is established and shall be responsible for the performance of all the powers,
466 duties and functions heretofore vested in the Office of the Chief Medical Examiner and duties of the medical examiners and
467 Forensic Science Laboratory, as set forth in Title 29, Chapter 47.

468 Section 9. Amend § 4330, Title 10 of the Delaware Code by making insertions as shown by underlining and
469 deletions as shown by strike through as follows:

470 § 4330 Chemical test report.

471 For the purpose of establishing that physical evidence in a criminal or civil proceeding constitutes a particular
472 controlled substance defined under Chapter 47 of Title 16, a report signed by the forensic toxicologist or forensic chemist
473 who performed the test or tests as to its nature is prima facie evidence that the material delivered was properly tested under
474 procedures approved by the Division of Forensic Science ~~office of the Chief Medical Examiner/Forensic Sciences~~
475 ~~Laboratory~~, that those procedures are legally reliable, that the material was delivered by the officer or person stated in the
476 report and that the material was or contained the substance therein stated, without the necessity of the forensic toxicologist
477 or forensic chemist personally appearing in court, provided the report identifies the forensic toxicologist or forensic chemist
478 as an individual certified by the Division of Forensic Science ~~office of the Chief Medical Examiner/Forensic Sciences~~
479 ~~Laboratory~~, the Delaware State Police or any county or municipal police department employing analysts of controlled
480 substances, as qualified under standards approved by the Division of Forensic Science ~~office of the Chief Medical~~
481 ~~Examiner/Forensic Sciences Laboratory~~ to analyze those substances, states that the forensic toxicologist or forensic chemist
482 made an analysis of the material under the procedures approved by the Division of Forensic Science ~~Chief Medical~~
483 ~~Examiner, Director of Forensic Sciences Laboratory~~ and also states that the substance, in the forensic toxicologist's or
484 forensic chemist's opinion, is or contains the particular controlled substance specified. Nothing in this section precludes the
485 right of any party to introduce any evidence supporting or contradicting the evidence contained in or the presumption raised
486 by the report.

487 Section 10. Amend § 1448(g), Title 11 of the Delaware Code by making insertions as shown by underlining and
488 deletions as shown by strike through as follows:

489 (g) In addition to the penalties set forth in subsection (f) of this section herein, a person who is a prohibited person
490 as described in paragraph (a)(5) of this section and who is 14 years of age or older shall, upon conviction of a first offense,
491 be required to view a film and/or slide presentation depicting the damage and destruction inflicted upon the human body by

492 a projectile fired from a gun, and shall be required to meet with, separately or as part of a group, a victim of a violent crime,
493 or with the family of a deceased victim of a violent crime. The Division of Youth Rehabilitative Service, with the
494 cooperation of the Division of Forensic Science ~~Office of the Chief Medical Examiner~~ and the Violent Crimes
495 Compensation Board, shall be responsible for the implementation of this subsection.

496 Section 11. Amend § 8515, Title 11 of the Delaware Code by making insertions as shown by underlining and
497 deletions as shown by strike through as follows:

498 § 8515. Furnishing information of injured or deceased persons.

499 If a law-enforcement officer or the Division of Forensic Science ~~Office of the Chief Medical Examiner~~ transmits
500 to the Bureau the identification data of any unidentified deceased or injured person or any person suffering from loss of
501 memory, the Bureau shall furnish to such officer or ~~Office~~ the Division any information available pertaining to the
502 identification of such person.

503 Section 12. Amend § 8701, Title 11 of the Delaware Code by making insertions as shown by underlining and
504 deletions as shown by strike through as follows:

505 § 8701. Created; composition; compensation.

506 (a) There is hereby created the Criminal Justice Council.

507 (b) The Council shall consist of 29 members as follows:

508 (1) The Chief Justice of the Supreme Court, or the Chief Justice's designee;

509 (2) The President Judge of Superior Court, or the President Judge's designee;

510 (3) The Chief Judge of Family Court, or the Chief Judge's designee;

511 (4) The Chief Magistrate of the Justice of the Peace Courts, or the Chief Magistrate's designee;

512 (5) The Attorney General, or the Attorney General's designee;

513 (6) The Public Defender, or the Public Defender's designee;

514 (7) The Commissioner of the Department of Correction, or the Commissioner's designee;

515 (8) The Chief of the Bureau of Prisons of the Department of Correction, or the Bureau Chief's designee;

516 (9) The Director of the Division of Youth Rehabilitation, or the Director's designee;

517 (10) The Chairperson of the Board of Parole, or the Chairperson's designee;

518 (11) The Superintendent of the State Police, or the Superintendent's designee;

519 (12) The Chief of the New Castle County Police Department, or the Chief's designee;

520 (13) The Chief of the Wilmington Police Department, or the Chief's designee;

521 (14) The Chairperson of the Delaware Police Chiefs' Council, or the Chairperson's designee;

522 (15) ~~The Director of the Division of Forensic Science, or the Director's Chief Medical Examiner, or the Chief~~
523 ~~Medical Examiner's designee;~~

524 (16) The Secretary of Health and Social Services, or the Secretary's designee;

525 (17) The Secretary of Labor, or the Secretary's designee

526 (18) The United States Attorney for the District of Delaware, or the United States Attorney's designee;

527 (19) The Secretary of Education, or the Secretary's designee;

528 (20) Five at-large members who shall serve at the pleasure of the Governor for a term of 5 years each;

529 (21) The Secretary of the Department of Technology and Information, or the Secretary's designee;

530 (22) The Chief Judge of the Court of Common Pleas, or the Chief Judge's designee;

531 (23) The Secretary of the Department of Services for Children, Youth and their Families, or the Secretary's
532 designee;

533 (24) The Secretary of Public Safety, or the Secretary's designee; and

534 (25) A sitting judge of the United States District Court for the District of Delaware as designated by the Chief
535 Judge of the United States District Court for the District of Delaware.

536 (c) The terms of those members who serve by virtue of the office they hold shall be concurrent with service in the
537 office from which they derive their membership.

538 (d) Commission members shall serve without salary, but shall be entitled to reimbursement for travel and other
539 necessary expenses incurred in the performance of official duties.

540 Section 13. Amend § 2105(a), Title 13 of the Delaware Code by making insertions as shown by underlining and
541 deletions as shown by strike through as follows:

542 § 2105. Fatal incident reviews.

543 (a) The Council shall have the power to investigate and review, through a review panel, the facts and
544 circumstances of all deaths and near deaths that occur in Delaware as a result of domestic violence. "Near death" means a
545 victim in serious or critical condition as certified by a physician. This review shall include both homicides and suicides
546 resulting from domestic violence. ~~The Office of the Chief Medical Examiner~~ Division of Forensic Science shall submit to
547 the Council a monthly report within 30 days of the last day of the previous month, of all the homicides and suicides that
548 occurred in Delaware. Reviews may also include cases where the victim suffered a substantial risk of serious physical
549 injury or death. The review of deaths or near deaths involving criminal investigations will be delayed for at least 6 months,
550 and will under no circumstances begin until authorized by the Attorney General's office. Any case involving the death of a
551 minor (any child under the age of 18) related to domestic violence will be reviewed jointly by the appropriate regional

552 panel of the Child Death, Near Death and Stillborn Commission and the domestic violence fatal incident review panel. The
553 death of a minor will only be reviewed by the domestic violence fatal incident review panel where the minor's parents or
554 guardians were involved in an abusive relationship and the minor's death is directly related to that abuse.

555 Section 14. Amend § 3123, Title 16 of the Delaware Code by making insertions as shown by underlining and
556 deletions as shown by strike through as follows:

557 § 3123. Registration of deaths.

558 (a) A certificate of death for each death which occurs in this State shall be filed with the Office of Vital Statistics,
559 or as otherwise directed by the State Registrar, within 3 days after death and prior to final disposition, and shall be
560 registered if it has been completed and filed in accordance with this section.

561 (1) If the place of death is unknown but the dead body is found in this State, the certificate of death shall be
562 completed and filed in accordance with this section. The place where the body is found shall be shown as the place of
563 death. If the date of death is unknown, it may be determined by approximation.

564 (2) When death occurs in a moving conveyance in the United States and the body is first removed from the
565 conveyance in this State, the death shall be registered in this State and the place where it is first removed shall be
566 considered the place of death. When a death occurs on a moving conveyance while in international waters or air space or in
567 a foreign country or its air space and the body is first removed from the conveyance in this State, the death shall be
568 registered in this State but the certificate shall show the actual place of death insofar as can be determined.

569 (b) The funeral director who assumes custody of the dead body shall file the certificate of death. The funeral
570 director shall obtain the personal data from the next-of-kin or best qualified person or source available and shall obtain the
571 medical certification from the attending physician or Medical Examiner.

572 (c) The medical certification shall be completed, signed and returned to the funeral director within 48 hours after
573 death by the attending physician, except when an official death investigation is required by the ~~Office of the Chief Medical~~
574 ~~Examiner~~ Division of Forensic Science. In the absence of the attending physician the certificate may be completed and
575 signed by the attending physician's designated physician or the chief medical officer of the institution in which death
576 occurred provided such individual has knowledge about the medical history of the case.

577 (d) When an official death investigation is required pursuant to § 4706(a) of Title 29, the Medical Examiner shall
578 determine the manner and cause of death and shall complete and sign the medical certification.

579 (e) If the cause of death cannot be determined within 48 hours after death, the attending physician or medical
580 examiner shall file with the Office of Vital Statistics a pending certificate of death and a toxicology study shall be
581 performed. If a cause of death cannot be determined after the toxicology study is performed, the remains and all reports

582 and/or studies shall be turned over to the ~~Office of the Chief Medical Examiner~~ Division of Forensic Science for review.
583 When the cause of death is determined a revised certification of death shall be issued and presented to the funeral director
584 or the funeral director's agent, who in turn shall file the certificate with the Office of Vital Statistics.

585 (f) When a death is presumed to have occurred within this State but the body cannot be located, a death certificate
586 may be prepared by the State Registrar upon receipt of a court order which shall include the finding of facts required to
587 complete the death certificate. Such a death certificate shall be marked "By Court Order" and shall show on its face the date
588 of registration and shall identify the court and the date of decree.

589 Section 15. Amend § 3124, Title 16 of the Delaware Code by making insertions as shown by underlining and
590 deletions as shown by strike through as follows:

591 § 3124. Registration of spontaneous fetal death.

592 Each spontaneous fetal death of 350 grams or more, or in the absence of weight, of 20 completed week's gestation
593 or more, calculated from the date the last normal menstrual period began to the date of delivery, which occurs in this State
594 shall be reported within 3 days after delivery to the Office of Vital Statistics by filing a fetal death certificate. Induced
595 terminations of pregnancy shall not be reported as spontaneous fetal deaths.

596 (1) When a fetal death occurs in an institution, the person in charge of the institution or a designated
597 representative shall prepare and file a Certificate of Fetal Death.

598 (2) When a fetal death occurs outside an institution, the physician in attendance at or immediately after delivery
599 shall prepare and file a Certificate of Fetal Death. No person other than a physician may sign a Certificate of Fetal Death.

600 (3) When a fetal death occurs without medical attendance at or shortly after the delivery, or when a fetal death
601 occurs in a moving conveyance and the fetus is first removed from the conveyance in this State or when a fetal death occurs
602 in this State and the place of fetal death is unknown, an investigation by the ~~Office of the Chief Medical Examiner~~ Division
603 of Forensic Science shall be conducted to determine the cause and manner of the fetal death.

604 Section 16. Amend § 4177(h), Title 21 of the Delaware Code by making insertions as shown by underlining and
605 deletions as shown by strike through as follows:

606 (h) (1) For the purpose of introducing evidence of a person's alcohol concentration or the presence or
607 concentration of any drug pursuant to this section, a report signed by the Forensic Toxicologist, Forensic Chemist or State
608 Police Forensic Analytical Chemist who performed the test or tests as to its nature is prima facie evidence, without the
609 necessity of the Forensic Toxicologist, Forensic Chemist or State Police Forensic Analytical Chemist personally appearing
610 in court:

611 a. That the blood delivered was properly tested under procedures approved by the Division of Forensic Science
612 ~~Forensic Sciences Laboratory, Office of the Chief Medical Examiner,~~ or the Delaware State Police Crime Laboratory;

613 b. That those procedures are legally reliable;

614 c. That the blood was delivered by the officer or persons stated in the report; and,

615 d. That the blood contained the alcohol, drugs or both therein stated.

616 (2) Any report introduced under paragraph (h)(1) of this section must:

617 a. Identify the Forensic Toxicologist, Forensic Chemist or State Police Forensic Analytical Chemist as an
618 individual certified by the Division of Forensic Science ~~Forensic Sciences Laboratory, Office of the Chief Medical~~
619 ~~Examiner,~~ the Delaware State Police Crime Laboratory or any county or municipal police department employing scientific
620 analysis of blood, as qualified under standards approved by the Division of Forensic Science ~~Forensic Sciences Laboratory,~~
621 ~~Office of the Chief Medical Examiner~~ or the Delaware State Police Crime Laboratory to analyze the blood;

622 b. State that the person made an analysis of the blood under the procedures approved by the Division of Forensic
623 Science ~~Forensic Sciences Laboratory, Office of the Chief Medical Examiner~~ or the Delaware State Police Crime
624 Laboratory; and,

625 c. State that the blood, in that person's opinion, contains the resulting alcohol concentration or the presence or
626 concentration of any drug within the meaning of this section.

627 Nothing in this subsection precludes the right of any party to introduce any evidence supporting or contradicting
628 the evidence contained in the report entered pursuant to paragraphs (h)(1) and (2) of this section.

629 (3) For purposes of establishing the chain of physical custody or control of evidence defined in this section which
630 is necessary to admit such evidence in any proceeding, a statement signed by each successive person in the chain of custody
631 that the person delivered it to the other person indicated on or about the date stated is prima facie evidence that the person
632 had custody and made the delivery stated, without the necessity of a personal appearance in court by the person signing the
633 statement, in accordance with the same procedures outlined in § 4331(3) of Title 10.

634 (4) In a criminal proceeding, the prosecution shall, upon written demand of a defendant filed in the proceedings at
635 least 15 days prior to the trial, require the presence of the Forensic Toxicologist, Forensic Chemist, State Police Forensic
636 Analytical Chemist, or any person necessary to establish the chain of custody as a witness in the proceeding. The chain of
637 custody or control of evidence defined in this section is established when there is evidence sufficient to eliminate any
638 reasonable probability that such evidence has been tampered with, altered or misidentified.

639 (i) In addition to any other powers of arrest, any law-enforcement officer is hereby authorized to arrest without a
640 warrant any person who the officer has probable cause to believe has violated the provisions of this section, regardless of

641 whether the alleged violation was committed in the presence of such officer. This authority to arrest extends to any hospital
642 or other medical treatment facility located beyond the territorial limits of the officer's jurisdiction provided there is probable
643 cause to believe that the violation of this section occurred within the officer's jurisdiction. This authority to arrest also
644 extends to any place where the person is found within 4 hours of the alleged driving of a vehicle if there is reason to believe
645 the person has fled the scene of an accident in which that person was involved, and provided there is probable cause to
646 believe that the violation of this section occurred within the officer's jurisdiction.

647 (j) Any court in which a conviction of or guilty plea to a driving under the influence offense shall include the
648 blood alcohol concentration of the defendant (if any is on record) when forwarding notice of said conviction or guilty plea
649 to the Division of Motor Vehicles.

650 Section 17. Amend § 2301, Title 23 of the Delaware Code by making insertions as shown by underlining and
651 deletions as shown by strike through as follows:

652 § 2301. Definitions.

653 (a) "Alcohol concentration of 0.08 or more" shall mean:

654 (1) An amount of alcohol in a sample of a person's blood equivalent to 0.08 or more grams of alcohol per 100
655 milliliters of blood; or

656 (2) An amount of alcohol in a sample of a person's breath equivalent to 0.08 or more grams per 210 liters of
657 breath.

658 (b) "Chemical test" or "test" shall include any form or method of analysis of a person's blood, breath or urine for
659 the purposes of determining alcohol concentration or the presence of drugs which is approved for use by the Division of
660 Forensic Science Forensic Sciences Laboratory, Office of the Chief Medical Examiner, the Delaware State Police Crime
661 Laboratory, any state or federal law-enforcement agency, or any hospital or medical laboratory. It shall not, however,
662 include a preliminary screening test of breath performed in order to estimate the alcohol concentration of a person at the
663 scene of a stop or other initial encounter between a law-enforcement officer and the person.

664 (c) "Operating a vessel or vessel operation" shall include driving, operating or having actual physical control of a
665 vessel or boat.

666 (d) "Prior or previous offense" shall mean:

667 (1) A conviction pursuant to this chapter, or a similar statute of any state, local jurisdiction or the District of
668 Columbia, within 5 years immediately preceding the date of the present offense; or

669 (2) A conviction, under a criminal statute encompassing death or injury caused to another person by the person's
670 operation of a vessel, where operating a vessel under the influence or with a prohibited alcohol concentration was an
671 element of the offense.

672 For the purpose of computing the periods of time set out in § 2305 of this title, the period shall run from the date
673 of the commission of the prior or previous offense to the date of the commission of the charged offense. In any proceeding
674 under § 2305 of this title, a person may not challenge the validity of any prior or previous conviction unless that person first
675 successfully challenges the prior or previous conviction in the court in which the conviction arose and provides written
676 notice of the challenge in the present proceeding to the prosecution at least 20 days before trial.

677 (e) "Underway" shall be defined as any vessel which is not at anchor or made fast ashore.

678 (f) "Vessel" shall mean every device in, upon or by which any person may be transported upon the water excepting
679 devices moved by human power.

680 (g) "While under the influence" shall mean that the person is, because of alcohol or drugs or a combination of
681 both, less able than the person would ordinarily have been, either mentally or physically, to exercise clear judgment,
682 sufficient physical control, or due care in the operation of a vessel or boat.

683 Section 18. Amend § 2303, Title 23 of the Delaware Code by making insertions as shown by underlining and
684 deletions as shown by strike through as follows:

685 § 2303. Consent to submit to chemical test.

686 (a) Any person who motors, sails, rows, commands, operates or has actual physical control of a vessel or boat
687 underway on the waters of this State shall be deemed to have given consent, subject to this section and § 2302 of this title,
688 to a chemical test or tests of the person's blood, breath and/or urine for the purpose of determining the presence of alcohol
689 or a drug or drugs. The testing may be required of a person when an officer has probable cause to believe the person is in
690 violation of § 2302 of this title or a local ordinance substantially conforming thereto.

691 (b) At the time that a chemical test specimen is required, the person may be informed that if testing is refused, the
692 person shall be prohibited from operating a vessel upon Delaware's waters for a period of 1 year.

693 (c) If there are reasonable grounds to believe that there is impairment by a drug or drugs which are not readily
694 subject to detection by a breath test, a blood and/or urine test may be required even after a breath test has been
695 administered.

696 (d) Alternative tests; physical incapacity. -- If for any reason a person is physically unable to supply enough
697 breath or complete the chemical test, the person shall submit to other chemical tests as designated by the officer, subject to
698 the requirements of subsection (a) of this section. Any person who is unconscious or who is otherwise in a condition

699 rendering the person incapable of refusal shall be deemed to not have withdrawn the consent provided in this section and
700 any test may be performed as provided in subsection (a) of this section.

701 (e) Refusal to submit as admissible evidence. -- Upon any trial of any action or proceeding arising out of the acts
702 alleged to have been committed by any person while in violation of § 2302 of this title, the court may admit evidence of the
703 refusal of such person to submit to a chemical test of the person's breath, blood or urine.

704 (f) Admissibility in evidence of results of chemical test . -- For purposes of a conviction premised upon § 2302(a)
705 of this title or any proceeding pursuant to this code in which an issue is whether a person was operating a vessel while
706 under the influence, evidence establishing the presence and concentration of alcohol or drugs in the person's blood, breath
707 or urine shall be relevant and admissible. Such evidence may include the results from tests of samples of the person's blood,
708 breath or urine taken within 4 hours of operating the vessel or at some later time. In any proceeding, the resulting alcohol or
709 drug concentration reported when a test, as defined in § 2301(b) of this title, is performed shall be deemed to be the actual
710 alcohol or drug concentration in the person's blood, breath or urine without regard to any margin of error or tolerance factor
711 inherent in such tests.

712 (g) Evidence of an alcohol concentration of 0.05 or less in a person's blood, breath or urine sample taken within 4
713 hours of operating a vessel and tested as defined in § 2301(b) of this title is prima facie evidence that the person was not
714 under the influence of alcohol within the meaning of this chapter. Evidence of an alcohol concentration of more than 0.05
715 but less than 0.08 in a person's blood, breath or urine sample taken within 4 hours of operating a vessel and tested as
716 defined in § 2301(b) of this title shall not give rise to any presumption that the person was or was not under the influence of
717 alcohol, but such fact may be considered with other competent evidence in determining whether the person was under the
718 influence of alcohol.

719 (h) Evidence obtained through a preliminary screening test of a person's breath in order to estimate the alcohol
720 concentration of the person at the scene of a stop or other initial encounter between a law-enforcement officer and the
721 person shall be admissible in any proceeding to determine whether probable cause existed to believe that a violation of this
722 Code has occurred. However, such evidence shall not be admissible in the determination of guilt under this section.

723 (i) Nothing in this section shall preclude conviction of an offense defined in this chapter based solely on
724 admissible evidence other than the results of a chemical test of a person's blood, breath or urine to determine the
725 concentration or presence of alcohol or drugs.

726 (j) A jury shall be instructed by the court in accordance with the applicable provisions of this section in any
727 proceeding pursuant to this chapter in which an issue is whether a person was operating a vessel while under the influence.

728 (k) For the purpose of introducing evidence of a person's alcohol concentration pursuant to this section, a report
729 signed by the Forensic Toxicologist, Forensic Chemist or State Police Forensic Analytical Chemist who performed the test or
730 tests as to its nature is prima facie evidence, without the necessity of the Forensic Toxicologist, Forensic Chemist or State
731 Police Forensic Analytical Chemist personally appearing in court:

732 (1) That the blood delivered was properly tested under procedures approved by the Division of Forensic Science
733 ~~Forensic Sciences Laboratory, Office of the Chief Medical Examiner~~ or the Delaware State Police Crime Laboratory;

734 (2) That those procedures are legally reliable;

735 (3) That the blood was delivered by the officer or persons stated in the report; and

736 (4) That the blood contained the alcohol therein stated.

737 (l) (1) Any report introduced under subsection (k) of this section must:

738 a. Identify the Forensic Toxicologist, Forensic Chemist or State Police Forensic Analytical Chemist as an individual
739 certified by the Division of Forensic Science ~~Forensic Sciences Laboratory, Office of the Chief Medical Examiner~~, the
740 Delaware State Police Crime Laboratory or any county or municipal police department employing scientific analysis of
741 blood, as qualified under standards approved by the Division of Forensic Science ~~Forensic Sciences Laboratory, Office of~~
742 ~~the Chief Medical Examiner~~ or the Delaware State Police Crime Laboratory to analyze the blood;

743 b. State that the person made the analysis of the blood under the procedures approved by the Division of Forensic
744 Science ~~Forensic Sciences Laboratory, Office of the Chief Medical Examiner~~ or the Delaware State Police Crime
745 Laboratory; and

746 c. State that the blood, in the person's opinion, contains the resulting alcohol concentration within the meaning of
747 this chapter.

748 Nothing in this section precludes the right of any party to introduce any evidence supporting or contradicting the
749 evidence contained in the report entered pursuant to subsections (k) and (l) of this section.

750 (2) For purposes of establishing the chain of physical custody or control of evidence defined in this section which
751 is necessary to admit such evidence in any proceeding, a statement signed by each successive person in the chain of custody
752 that the person delivered it to the other person indicated on or about the date stated is prima facie evidence that the person
753 had custody and made the delivery stated, without the necessity of a personal appearance in court by the person signing the
754 statement, in accordance with the same procedures outlined in § 4331(3) of Title 10.

755 (3) In a criminal proceeding, the prosecution shall, upon written demand of a defendant filed in the proceedings at
756 least 15 days prior to the trial, require the presence of the Forensic Toxicologist, Forensic Chemist, State Police Forensic
757 Analytical Chemist or any person necessary to establish the chain of custody as a witness in the proceeding. The chain of

758 custody or control of evidence defined in this section is established when there is evidence sufficient to eliminate any
759 reasonable probability that such evidence has been tampered with, altered or misidentified.

760 (m) The informing or failure to inform the accused concerning the implied consent provision shall not affect the
761 admissibility of such results in any prosecution for a violation of § 2302(a) of this title.

762 (n) The doctor-patient privilege shall not apply to the disclosure to law-enforcement personnel nor the
763 admissibility into evidence in any criminal proceeding of the results of a chemical test of a person's blood, breath or urine
764 for the purpose of determining the alcohol or drug content of the person's blood irrespective of whether such test was done
765 at the request of a treating physician, other medical personnel or a peace officer.

766 Section 19. On or before January 31, 2015, the Commission on Forensic Science will evaluate the structure of the
767 Division of Forensic Science, including whether there are efficiencies or operational improvements gained by consolidating
768 other forensic sciences with the Division of Forensic Science, whether death investigations should be moved from the
769 Division of Forensic Science, or whether there are any other restructurings that would improve the provision of forensic
770 science services in this State, and shall issue a report on this evaluation to the Governor and the General Assembly.

771 Section 20. This Act shall take effect on July 1, 2014 or 10 days following its enactment into law, whichever is
772 later.

773 Section 21. If any provision of this Act or the application thereof to any person or circumstance is held invalid,
774 such invalidity shall not affect other provisions or applications of the Act which can be given effect without the invalid
775 provision or application, and to that end the provisions of this Act are declared to be severable.

SYNOPSIS

This Act reorganizes the provision of many forensic sciences into a new Division of Forensic Science organized within the Department of Safety and Homeland Security. The proposed new Division of Forensic Science would consist of the operations previously organized in the Office of the Chief Medical Examiner within the Department of Health and Social Services.

Section 1 of the Act reorganizes the Office of the Chief Medical Examiner as the Division of Forensic Science. The Division shall be led by the Director of the Division of Forensic Science, who shall appoint the Chief Medical Examiner and assistant medical examiners and other personnel in the Division. The Director and the Chief Medical Examiner shall be subject to the same personnel policies as other division directors in the department. Employees of the Division must seek prior written approval of the Secretary of the Department of Safety and Homeland Security to maintain employment outside of the Division.

Section 1 further creates the Commission on Forensic Science, which shall provide oversight and supervision for the Division.

Sections 2 through 5 strike provisions relating to the Office of the Chief Medical Examiner from the chapter governing the Department of Health and Social Services, including certain employment provisions applicable to the Chief Medical Examiner.

Sections 6 through 8 create the Division of Forensic Science within the Department of Safety and Homeland Security.

Sections 9 through 18 make conforming changes to other titles of the Delaware Code to reflect the new organization of the Division of Forensic Science, including working with the courts and law enforcement (sections 9, 10 and 11), participation on the Criminal Justice Council (section 12), providing fatal incident reviews to the Domestic Violence Coordinating Council (section 13), investigation of deaths (sections 14 and 15), and operating a vehicle or vessel under the influence (sections 16 through 18).

Section 19 provides that the Commission on Forensic Science shall study whether any forensic sciences should be consolidated with the Division of Forensic Science, and whether death investigations should occur outside the Division, and requires the Commission to report to the Governor and General Assembly by January 31, 2015. Sections 20 and 21 provide that the Act shall take effect July 1, 2014 or ten days following its enactment, whichever is later, and that provision of the Act are intended to be severable.

Author: Senator Marshall